IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDAD J. WHITE

CASE NO. 72,878

JAN 17 1989

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

FLORIDA PATIENT'S COMPENSATION FUND, et al.

Petitioners,

vs.

CLARA M. SCHERER,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER, FLORIDA PATIENT'S COMPENSATION FUND, ON THE MERITS

LAW OFFICES OF JOE N. UNGER, P.A. 606 Concord Building 66 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 (305) 374-5500

BY: JOE N. UNGER
Counsel for Petitioner

TOPICAL

INTRODUCTION

This brief is submitted on behalf of petitioner, Florida Patient's Compensation Fund, and deals with the propriety of awarding attorney's fees to the plaintiff pursuant to Section 768.56 of the Florida Statutes (since repealed). The Fund herewith adopts those portions of the brief to be filed by Enrique Morales, M.D. and White, Kump and Morales, M.D., P.A. arguing other issues raised in these proceedings.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is a medical malpractice action brought by Clara Scherer against Drs. Morales and Schultz and the Holy Cross Hospital, as well as the Florida Patient's Compensation Fund for treatment rendered between November 22, 1978 and April 4, 1980. (R.61-65, 79-80)¹

The plaintiff's complaint was filed on September 20, 1982. An issue was made in defendant's pleadings that the statute of limitations had run on the plaintiff's claim. This was raised as an affirmative defense and in a motion for summary judgment filed by Morales. (R.97-99) Summary judgment was granted for Morales. (R.108) On appeal, it was determined that the record conclusively established that Dr. Morales had performed a medical procedure and that Mrs.

^{1.} The treatment rendered to Mrs. Scherer by Dr. Morales which would form the basis of her complaint occurred in June, 1979. (Transcript of June 30, 1986, mistakenly labeled August 30, 1986, at page 29).

Scherer knew that he had performed a procedure more than two years before suit was filed. Dr. Morales, however, failed to conclusively demonstrate the absence of an issue with respect to whether Mrs. Scherer either knew or should have known of the alleged malpractice more than two years before she commenced suit. Accordingly, the record was inadequate to sustain a summary judgment on the statute of limitations question and the cause was reversed and remanded for further proceedings. Scherer v. Schultz, 468 So.2d 539 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985).

At trial, the statute of limitations question as to whether the plaintiff knew or should have known of the alleged malpractice committed by Dr. Morales was presented to the jury and resulted in a special interrogatory verdict finding in the plaintiff's favor.

Pursuant to the verdict, a judgment was entered in plaintiff's favor and against Dr. Morales, his professional association and the Florida Patient's Compensation Fund in the sum of \$240,000. (R.183) Various post-trial motions were filed, including a Motion to Limit Final Judgment, stating the defendants were entitled to reduction of the \$240,000 by a \$100,000 pre-trial settlement entered into in accordance with an agreement contained in an exhibit to the motion. It was also asserted that pursuant to Section 768.50 of the Florida Statutes, the defendants were entitled to a set-off of collateral sources of indemnity

approximating \$120,000 constituting Medicare payments, Social Security and other public programs providing remuneration. (R.178-180)

Subsequently, the trial court entered an Order on Motion to Limit Final Judgment granting defendants' motion granting a set-off of \$100,000 and deferring ruling on the set-off of collateral sources. (R.204-205)

During this post-trial period, the plaintiff filed a motion to tax attorney's fees in accordance with the provisions of Section 768.56 of the Florida Statutes. (R.213) After denial of defendants' motions for new trial, remittitur, and judgment notwithstanding the verdict, but prior to resolution of the other then pending post-trial motions, the defendants filed a notice of appeal from the final judgment. (R.223-224) This appeal was voluntarily dismissed. (R.256)

On July 25, 1986, the two orders concerning fees and set-off were entered by the trial court. In the first, titled Final Order on Motion to Limit Final Judgment (R.257), the trial court again ruled that Morales and the Fund were entitled to a set-off of the \$100,000 paid to the plaintiff pursuant to the settlement agreement, but were not entitled to any reduction for collateral source benefits. Accordingly, the \$240,000 judgment previously entered was reduced by \$100,000 to \$140,000 plus costs and attorney's fees.

In the Order and Final Judgment Granting Motion for Attorney's Fees and Costs, the trial court reviewed the evidence presented concerning the amount of time spent by plaintiff's counsel and the appropriate risk multiplier, determining that a reasonable fee was \$152,800. Plaintiff was awarded a fee of \$120,000 since this was the amount in the fee agreement reached between plaintiff and counsel. (R.258-259)

An appeal from these orders was taken by Morales and joined in by the Fund. (R.260-261, 268, 287-288) A majority of the reviewing court affirmed the award of fees based on a determination that the plaintiff's cause of action accrued after the effective date of Section 768.56, Florida Statutes (now repealed). One judge dissented. Morales v. Scherer, 528 So.2d 1 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988), copy appended. These proceedings followed.

ISSUE ON REVIEW

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN AFFIRMING A JUDGMENT FOR ATTORNEY'S FEES UNDER SECTION 768.56 AGAINST DR. MORALES AND THE FUND WHERE THE ALLEGED NEGLIGENT ACT OCCURRED PRIOR TO THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE STATUTE.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The decision in <u>Young v. Altenhaus</u>, 472 So.2d 1152 (Fla. 1985) governs the timing of when a plaintiff is entitled to recover attorney's fees under Section 768.56 (now repealed). This statute entitled the prevailing party

in a medical malpractice action to an award of attorney's fees. Under Young v. Altenhaus and other cases which preceded and followed, where tortious conduct which is the basis of a plaintiff's complaint took place before July 1, 1980, the effective date of the statute, there is no entitlement to attorney's fees. Here, the medical malpractice incident involving Dr. Morales alleged to have caused the plaintiff's injuries occurred sometime in 1979. Whether or not the plaintiff discovered commission of a negligent act after July 1, 1980, is not relevant to the entitlement to statutory attorney's fees. The plaintiff was not entitled to recover attorney's fees under Section 768.56.

ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN AFFIRMING A JUDGMENT FOR ATTORNEY'S FEES UNDER SECTION 768.56 AGAINST DR. MORALES AND THE FUND WHERE THE ALLEGED NEGLIGENT ACT OCCURRED PRIOR TO THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE STATUTE.

The 1979 Florida legislature enacted Section 768.56 which provided that the prevailing party in a medical malpractice action would be entitled to a reasonable attorney's fee. Section (2) provided that it would "...not apply to any action filed before July 1, 1980."

While this section was repealed in 1985, there are many cases still pending in which the question of attorney's fees to the prevailing party in a medical malpractice action

still applies. The question here is whether the facts of this case give rise to entitlement to fees by the plaintiff.

The applicability section of the statute states in deceptively simply terms that it would not apply to any action filed before July 1, 1980. Through a series of district court litigation culminating in the decision of this Court in Young v. Altenhaus, 472 So.2d 1152 (Fla. 1985), it was determined that the statute did not apply retroactively and would not apply to causes of action that accrued prior to the statute's effective date. It is the position of the Florida Patient's Compensation Fund that the phrase "causes of action that accrued prior to the statute's effective date" specifically refers to those actions in which the "malpractice incident" or tortious conduct took place before the statute was enacted. If this interpretation is correct, there would be no entitlement by Mrs. Scherer to attorney's fees as the prevailing party in a medical malpractice action against Dr. Morales since the tortious conduct of Dr. Morales occurred sometime in 1979, well before the July 1, 1980 effective date of the statute.

Attorneys for Scherer argued in the hearing on attorney's fees that since the jury determined for purposes of the statute of limitations that Mrs. Scherer's cause of action accrued after September of 1980, this determination carries with it an implicit determination that for purposes of the medical malpractice fee statute, the cause of action

accrued after July 1, 1980. This argument combines apples and oranges to come to a conclusion which is not justified by the decision of this Court in <u>Young v. Altenhaus</u>, nor in the cases which have followed it.

Young v. Altenhaus was a combined decision of two cases before the court. These were Young v. Altenhaus, 448 So.2d 1039 (Fla. 3d DC 1983) and Pohlman v. Mathews, 440 So.2d 681 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983). In each case, the district court had upheld the validity of Section 768.56 and in a decision released simultaneously with the decision in Young, this Court upheld the constitutionality of the section. Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. Rowe, 472 So.2d 1145 (Fla. 1985).

The two case before this Court presented the question of whether the statute applied ". . .to causes of action that accrued prior to that statute's effective date." Young v. Altenhaus, supra at page 1153. In discussing the relevant facts in each of the cases, it is specified that in Young v. Altenhaus the "malpractice incident" occurred in 1979, prior to the effective of Section 768.56. In Pohlman v. Mathews, it is simply stated that Mathews' cause of action accrued in 1978 and 1979.

This Court goes on to state that the record revealed the causes of action accrued prior to the effective date of the statute, obviously referring in the Young v. Altenhaus situation to the fact that the "malpractice incident"

occurred in 1979. "In each case, the plaintiff's action was filed after July 1, 1980, but the cause of action actually accrued before that date." Young v. Altenhaus, supra at page 1154.

As to when the cause of action accrued for purposes of entitlement to attorney's fees in medical malpractice actins, this Court determined:

"In the instant cases, Altenhaus' and Mathews' rights to enforce their causes of action for malpractice against the defendant's below vested prior to the effective date of section 768.56." Young v. Altenhaus, supra at page 1154.

Accordingly, the portions of the district court decisions holding that attorney's fees could be awarded to the prevailing parties pursuant to Section 768.56 were quashed.

It must be carefully noted that when this Court spoke in Young v. Altenhaus about accrual of a cause of action for purposes of entitlement to attorney's fees, it clearly meant when the malpractice incident occurred and not when the cause of action accrued for purposes of the statute of limitations set forth in Section 95.11(4).

Under the specific terms of the limitations statute, a cause of action does not accrue for purposes of that statute until a party either knows or should have known that a tortious act has occurred. While this is clearly the case where application of the statue of limitations is

concerned, 2 it is not the case where the question involved is the payment of attorney's fees in a medical malpractice action. Notwithstanding the clear distinction readily apparent in the case law regarding application of the statute of limitations and the fee statutes, the district court in the instant case incorrectly determined "...case law fails to suggest that the time of accrual of a cause of action for awarding attorney's fees under section 768.56 should be any different than under section 95.11(4) dealing with the statute of limitations." Morales v. Scherer, 528 So.2d 1, 2 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988). Respectfully, case law does suggest differing effects to the time of accrual of a cause of action.

Young v. Altenhaus, cites with approval first the decision in Parrish v. Mullis, 458 So.2d 401 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984) which held generally that Section 768.56 could not be retroactively applied to a cause of action which accrued prior to its effective. The Parrish decision does not specify whether the "accrual" of which it speaks is the commission of the tortious conduct or notice of that tortious conduct.

The second case cited is <u>Tindall v. Miller</u>, 463 So.2d 1262 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985) which appears to equate knowledge of tortious conduct with accrual of a cause of action for

^{2.} See, Salvaggio v. Austin, 336 So.2d 1282 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976).

purposes of Section 768.56. Examination of the <u>Tindall</u> decision, however, indicates that the medical malpractice would have occurred on March 4, 1980 and plaintiff was aware of the alleged malpractice at least by the end of April, 1980. Under any view of the evidence, the cause of action would have accrued prior to July 1, 1980, for purposes of the award of attorney's fees.

Just prior to the decision in <u>Young v. Altenhaus</u>, the Fourth District decided <u>Frankowitz v. Propst</u>, 464 So.2d 1225 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985). The defendants in a medical malpractice action challenged the constitutionality of Section 768.56. While plaintiff's complaint was filed in August, 1981, after enactment of the statute, it was defendants' contention that because the acts of negligence alleged by the plaintiffs all occurred before July, 1980, the award of attorney's fees constituted an impermissible retroactive application of the statute. The majority decision holds that Section 768.56 applied to all medical malpractice actions filed on or after July 1, 1980 in accordance with the wording of the statute "... even though the act of medical negligence may have taken place before that date." Frankowitz v. Propst, supra at page 1227.

The majority decision in <u>Frankowitz</u> was quashed by this Court based upon <u>Young v. Altenhaus</u>, supra. <u>Neily v. Propst</u>, 489 So.2d 10 (Fla. 1986). The quashal invalidated not only the determination that Section 768.56 applied to

all medical malpractice actions filed on or after July, 1980, but also the finding that the fee statute applied even though the act of medical negligence had taken place before that date. The Frankowitz dissent in the district court is to the majority determination that the attorney's fee statute can constitutionally be applied to actions based on tortious conduct that took place before the statute was enacted. This dissenting view presaged Young v. Altenhaus, which speaks in terms of a "malpractice incident" and not knowledge of tortious conduct, which is the basis for application or non-application of the statute of limitations.

As the dissenting district court judge pointed out in this case, the invalidation of retrospective application of section 768.56 by this Court in Young v. Altenhaus, supra, quotes with approval the earlier decision in McCord v. Smith, 43 So.2d 704, 709 (Fla. 1949):

"A retrospective provision of a legislative act is not necessarily invalid. It is son only in those case where. . .a new obligation or duty is created or imposed. . .in connection with transactions -or considerations previously had or expiated." Young v. Altenhaus, supra at page 1154.

It was based on this determination that the dissenting judge correctly concluded that application of section 768.56 to acts of malpractice occurring prior to its enactment (as the majority decision has done) violates state and federal

constitutional prohibitions against ex post facto laws by enlarging the financial obligation of a physician after the date of alleged malpractice. This conclusion is not only suggested but required by Young v. Altenhaus.

It is also important to note that the majority determination of the Fourth District in this case conflicts with a unanimous decision of a different panel of the same court which held in another case that since the incident of malpractice occurred on June 3, 1980, the cause of action accrued prior to enactment of the fee statute and the statute was inapplicable. Brown v. North Broward Hospital District, 521 So.2d 143 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988). See also Department of Transportation v. Soldovere, 519 So.2d 616 (Fla. 1988) (Cause of action accrues at the time of injury).

CONCLUSION

For the reasons and under the authorities set forth above, that portion of the decision rendered below which affirms the award of attorney's fees to Scherer under section 768.56 should be quashed with directions to the trial court to rule accordingly.