0/6 5289

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

1

CASE NO: 72,878

FLORIDA PATIENT'S COMPENSATION FUND, et al.,

Petitioners/Cross-Respondent,

-vs-

CLARA M. SCHERER,

Respondent/Cross-Petitioner.

SED & WHITE	
FEB 22 1989 C	
CLERK, SUFTLIME COURT	
Deputy Clerk	

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT/CROSS-PETITIONER ON MERITS

THOMPSON & O'BRIEN P.O. Box 14334 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33302 and Philip M. Burlington, Esq. of EDNA L. CARUSO, P.A. Suite 4-B/Barristers Bldg. 1615 Forum Place West Palm Beach, FL 33401 (407) 686-8010 Attorneys for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err in awarding attorney's fees to the Plaintiff since her cause of action did not accrue until **she** discovered that she had been injured by Dr. Morales' malpractice. The trial court's ruling is not inconsistent with YOUNG v. ALTENHAUS, 472 So.2d 1152 (Fla. 1985) because that case simply held that the entitlement to attorney's fees is determined **as** of

the date the Plaintiff's cause of action accrued. Since the Plaintiff's cause of action did not accrue until she discovered (or reasonably should have discovered) Dr. Morales' malpractice, that is the operative date for determining her entitlement to attorney's fees. Since the jury's resolution of that issue in favor of the Plaintiff has not been challenged, the factual predicate is undisputed and supports Plaintiff's entitlement to attorney's fees.

<u>-</u>--

The trial court did not err in denying Morales' Motion for Limitation of Liability. That motion was filed after Morales had filed his Notice of Appeal from the underlying Judgment and the Judgment on attorney's fees. Morales argued, for the first time, in his Motion for Rehearing before the Fourth District that that motion was filed pursuant to Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.540 and that the trial court had jurisdiction to rule upon it. However, settled case law provides that when a Notice of Appeal has been filed from the underlying judgment, the trial court does not have from that authority to grant relief judgment absent а relinquishment of jurisdiction from the appellate court. No such relinquishment was obtained in this case and, therefore, the trial court did not have jurisdiction to grant the motion.

Additionally, the \$100,000 paid pursuant to the pretrial settlement did not constitute the type of payment contemplated pursuant to Fla. Stat. S768.54. That \$100,000 was paid to the Plaintiff in order to have a different doctor dismissed from the action so that he would not be disciplined for "repeated malpractice.'' The settlement agreement provided that that amount

would be paid regardless of the outcome of the case as to Morales. Therefore, that amount cannot be considered as a payment toward a settlement with respect to Morales or any judgment against him. Since that was not the type of payment contemplated by Fla. Stat. §768.54, Morales is not entitled to a limitation of liability based thereon.

· · ·

•

On cross-appeal, this Court should reverse the Fourth District's Order denying Plaintiff fees on the appeal. While the trial court determined that the award of fees to the Plaintiff at the trial level was limited by the "cap", i.e., the maximum recoverable under the attorney's fee contract, that contract did not apply to the services on appeal and, therefore, does not support denial of the attorney's fees incurred on appeal. For that reason, this Court should reverse the order and remand for entry of an order awarding the Plaintiff attorney's fees for the appeal.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN AWARDING THE PLAINTIFF ATTORNEY'S FEES.

the Morales and Florida Patient's Compensation Fund (hereafter "the Fund") both argue that the trial court improperly awarded the Plaintiff attorney's fees, claiming that the Plaintiff's cause of action accrued prior to July 1, 1980. Morales argues that the Plaintiff's cause of action accrued at the time of her injury, while the Fund argues that the cause of action accrued at the time of Morales' tortious conduct. However, it appears clear that the Plaintiff's cause of action did not accrue until she discovered that she had been injured by Dr. Morales. Therefore, since the jury determined that she did not discover the fact of her injury until after July 1, 1980, she was entitled to an award of attorney's fees.

Fla. Stat. §95.11(4)(b) provides in an action for medical malpractice shall be commenced within two years from the time of the incident giving rise to the action or two years from the time the incident is discovered, or should have been discovered with the exercise of due diligence (with an additional provision applying where there has been fraud, concealment or intentional misrepresentation of fact preventing the discovery of the injury). Morales and the Fund rely on YOUNG v. ALTENHAUS, 472 So.2d 1152 (Fla. 1985) as controlling. Morales relies on YOUNG for the statement that a plaintiff is not entitled to recover attorney's fees when the cause of action accrued prior to July 1, 1980; while the Fund relies on it for the proposition that the

Plaintiff's cause of action accrues when the malpractice incident or tortious conduct of the doctor occurs. However, neither of the District Court cases reviewed in YOUNG v. ALTENHAUS, supra, involved a situation where the date of the plaintiff's discovery of the medical incident was at issue. Therefore, while YOUNG v. ALTENHAUS, supra, is certainly relevant to this case, it is not controlling because it does not address the specific situation at This is particularly clear when reviewing prior case law issue. regarding the accrual of a medical malpractice cause of action in which the Plaintiff's discovery of the incident is at issue. When considered in light of that case law, the trial court's ruling does not conflict with YOUNG v. ALTHENHAUS, supra, since this Court determined that the relevant date for determining the entitlement to attorney's fees is the date the cause of action accrues. In the case sub judice, Plaintiff's claim accrued when she discovered the medical malpractice incident and, therefore, that is the operative date for determining her entitlement to attorney's fees.

:•

In DADE COUNTY v. FERRO, 384 So.2d 1283 (Fla. 1980), this Court addressed an issue regarding the statute of repose contained in Fla. <u>Stat</u>. 95.11(4)(b). In that case, the plaintiff had been treated by the defendant between December, 1970 and May, 1971, but did not discover the alleged malpractice until September, 1975. Plaintiff filed a medical mediation claim in April, 1977, within two years after discovery of the alleged malpractice, but more than four years after the treatment. In determining that the statute of repose contained in <u>Fla. Stat</u>.

§95.11(4)(b), Florida Statutes (1975) could not be applied to the plaintiff, this Court discussed the accrual of a medical malpractice cause of action where the date of the Plaintiffs discovery of the incident is crucial. This Court noted that under the predecessor statute, <u>Fla. Stat.</u> \$95.11(6)(1972), it was specifically provided that the cause of action for medical malpractice is "not to be deemed to have accrued until the plaintiff discovers, or through use of reasonable care should have discovered, the injury", (384 So.2d at 1284). This Court then stated (<u>Ibid</u>):

·-:

.-

• .

• • This amendment essentially codified existing case law respecting the date upon which medical malpractice claims accrued. [Citing, <u>inter alia</u>, NARDONE v. REYNOLDS, 333 So.2d 25 (Fla. 1976)]

In the context of that discussion, this Court cited with approval JOHNSON v. SZYMANSKI, 368 So.2d 370 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979), cert. den., 378 So.2d 350 (Fla. 1979). The issue before the court in JOHNSON was whether the two year limitation period provided in Fla. Stat. \$95.11(6)(1973) applied to plaintiff's cause of action or whether the four year limitation provided in Fla. Stat. \$95.11(4)(1971) was applicable. There was no dispute that the defendant's malpractice occurred before July 1, 1972 and that the plaintiff could not have reasonably discovered it until after the effective date of <u>Fla. Stat.</u> \$95.11(6)(1973). Under the latter statute, the plaintiff's claim would have been extinguished. The plaintiff in JOHNSON argued that his cause of action accrued when the malpractice occurred and that the discovery rule did nothing more than toll the running of the

limitations period until the plaintiff discovered the malpractice. The Second District rejected that argument, relying on the language in <u>Fla</u>. <u>Stat</u>. \$95.11(6)(1973) to the effect that the cause of action would not be deemed to have accrued until the plaintiff discovered, or should have discovered, the act of malpractice. The court also relied on general tort principles regarding the accrual of a cause of action, stating (368 So.2d at 372):

:-

•

•

A cause of action accrues "when the plaintiff could first have maintained his action to a successful result...when the person in whose favor it arises is first entitled to institute a judicial proceeding for the enforcement of his rights." 1 Am.Jur.2d, Actions §88 (1962) (Footnotes omitted); see also Black's Law Dictionary 37 (4th Ed. 1957).

The court in JOHNSON also noted two other District Court cases in which the applicable statute of limitations was determined based on the date of plaintiff's discovery of the malpractice incident and not the date of the malpractice, SALVAGGIO v. AUSTIN, 336 So.2d 1282 (Fla. 2d DCA 1976); HILL v. VIRGIN, 359 So.2d 918 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978).

In DADE COUNTY v. FERRO, <u>supra</u>, this Court concluded that the JOHNSON decision did not apply with respect to the statute of repose contained in Fla. Stat. §95.11(4)(b), but noted (384 So.2d at 1286): "[T]he reasoning of the district court in JOHNSON is applicable to the two-year limitation period of section 95.11(4)(b)."

Therefore, under DADE COUNTY v. FERRO, <u>supra</u>, and JOHNSON v. SZYMANSKI, <u>supra</u>, it appears clear that in the case <u>sub judice</u>,

the Plaintiff's cause of action for malpractice did not accrue until she discovered, or reasonably should have discovered, that she had been injured by Morales' malpractice. Further support for this conclusion can be found in NARDONE v. REYNOLDS, <u>supra</u>, (333 So.2d at 33), in which this Court stated:

:-1

> We agree with the United States District Court that since in 1965 the nature of the child's condition was obvious and known to the plaintiffs, it was then that the cause of action accrued and the statute of limitations commenced to run....

Therefore, since the Plaintiff's cause of action did not accrue until she discovered that her injury was caused by Morales' medical malpractice, the trial court's award of attorney's fees did not violate this Court's holding in YOUNG v. ALTENHAUS, supra.

Morales' reliance on <u>Fla</u>. <u>Stat</u>. \$95.031(1) to support the contention that the date of discovery does not constitute the date of accrual of the cause of action is inconsistent with the Court's decision in JOHNSON and DADE COUNTY which relied on general tort principles, in addition to the statutory language, to reach the conclusion that the cause of action accrues when the Plaintiff discovers the act of malpractice. Furthermore, it should be noted that the language relied upon in <u>Fla</u>. <u>Stat</u>. \$95.031(1) was enacted in 1975 and yet, nonetheless, this Court in DADE COUNTY v. FERRO, <u>supra</u>, approved the application of JOHNSON to <u>Fla</u>. <u>Stat</u>. \$95.11(4)(b)(1975).

Morales and the Fund argue that the award of attorney's fees in this case violates the constitutional due process prohibition

against <u>ex post facto</u> legislation, citing, <u>inter alia</u>, L. ROSS, INC. v. R.W. ROBERTS CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, INC., 466 So.2d 1096 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985), approved, 481 So.2d 484 (Fla. 1986). In the Fifth District decision in **ROSS**, Judge Cowart noted that (466 So.2d at 1098):

> The riaht to recover attorney's fees ancillary to another particular underlying cause of action always accrues at the time the other, underlying, cause of action This means substantive rights and accrues. obligations as to attorney's fees and particular types of litigation vest and accrue as of the time the underlying cause of action accrues.

> It is a facet of constitutional due process that, after they vest, substantive rights cannot be adversely affected by the enactment of legislation...[L]egislature cannot constitutionally increase an existing obligation, burden or penalty as to a set of facts after those facts have occurred. [Footnote deleted.]

Under the authorities cited above, the Plaintiff's cause of action did not accrue until she discovered the medical malpractice incident and, therefore, the award of attorney's fees in this case does not violate any constitutional due process principle. The "set of facts" to which the obligation of attorney's fees applies includes the Plaintiff's discovery of the medical malpractice incident.

The Fund argues that the accrual of a cause of action for purposes of the statute of limitations differs from the accrual of the action for other purposes. No authority is cited which authorizes that distinction. It should be noted that in JOHNSON, <u>supra</u>, the court determined the accrual date of Plaintiff's

action for purpose of determining which statute of limitations applies, which is a substantive issue, <u>see</u> CELOTEX CORPORATION v. MEEHAN, 523 So.2d 141, 144 (Fla. 1988).

Moreover, the Fund's argument that the operative date for determining the accrual of the cause of action is the "malpractice incident" does not mean that the action accrues on the date of the doctor's malpractice. Numerous cases have held that a malpractice "incident" includes three elements, (1) a medical procedure, (2) tortiously performed, (3) which injures the patient, FLORIDA PATIENT'S COMPENSATION FUND v. TILLMAN, 453 So.2d 1376, 1379 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984), approved in relevant part, 487 So.2d 1032 (Fla. 1986); see also, COHEN v. BAXT, 473 So.2d 1340, 1343 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985), approved in relevant part, 488 So.2d 56 (Fla. 1986); WILLIAMS v. SPIEGEL, 512 So.2d 1080 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987); JACKSON v. LYTLE, 528 So.2d 95 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988); ELLIOT v. BARROW, 526 So.2d 989 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988). Therefore, even under the Fund's analysis, the time of accrual is not the date of the malpractice, but the date when the damage occurs to the plaintiff. Put another way, until the plaintiff is damaged by the defendant's negligence, he or she has no cause of action.

In CITY OF MIAMI v. BROOKS, 70 So.2d 306 (Fla. 1954), the plaintiff received an overdose of x-ray therapy treatment in 1944. No injury manifested itself until 1949 at which time she brought suit. The trial court granted a directed verdict on the basis of statute of limitations. Relying on URIE v. THOMPSON, 337 U.S. 163 (1949), this Court reversed, stating (70 So.2d at 309):

In the instant case, at the time of the x-ray treatment there was nothing to indicate any injury or to put the plaintiff on notice of such, or that there had been an invasion of her legal rights. It is the testimony of one of the expert witnesses that injury from treatment of this kind may develop anywhere within one to ten years after the treatment, so that the statute must be held to attach when the plaintiff was first put upon notice or had reason to believe that her right of action had accrued.

This Court again relied on URIE, <u>supra</u>, in SEABOARD AIR LINE RAILROAD COMPANY v. FORD, **92** So.2d **160**, **164** (Fla. **1956**) (per curiam on rehearing), when it held that:

> [U]ntil an occupational disease has manifested itself, there has been no "injury" to start the running of the statute [of limitations]. But we have concluded that when the existence of a disease of the kind here involved (contact dermatitis) is manifested and its nature as an occupational disease is fairly discoverable, the statute begins to run even though the exact substance causing the disease has not been determined. This is so because when the disease manifests itself, the employee has been "injured" so as to start the running of the statute

See <u>also</u>, UNIVERSAL ENGINEERING CORPORATION v. PEREZ, **451** So.2d **463** (Fla. **1984**); CELOTEX CORPORATION v. COPELAND, **471** So.2d **533** (Fla. **1985**). For this reason, the Fund's contention that the date of the tortious conduct is the operative date for determining the accrual of the action is unacceptable, because the injury may not be deemed to have occurred until much later.

This analysis is not inconsistent with McCORD v. SMITH, 43 So.2d 704, 709 (Fla. 1949), wherein this Court stated that the retrospective provision of a legislative act is not invalid unless it creates a new obligation or duty with respect to

16

• .-:

"transactions or considerations previously had or explated." That language simply begs the issue of what "transactions or considerations" are relevant to the cause of action. Clearly, the "transactions" or "considerations" at issue must include the Plaintiff's injury and, when relevant, the date the Plaintiff discovered or should have discovered the malpractice incident.

In summary, the Plaintiff's cause of action accrued when she discovered she had been injured by Morales' malpractice. Since the jury determined that that occurred after July 1, 1980, the Plaintiff is entitled to an award of attorney's fees under <u>Fla</u>. <u>Stat</u>. **§768.56(1980)**. Application of the statute in this matter does not violate any due process principles since the substantive rights of the parties did not vest until the accrual of the cause of action and, therefore, application of the statute does not retroactively interfere with those rights.

POINT II

THE FOURTH DISTRICT DID NOT ERR IN UPHOLDING THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF MORALES' MOTION TO LIMIT JUDGMENT PURSUANT TO <u>FLA</u>, <u>STAT</u>. S768.54.

The trial court properly denied Morales' Motion to Limit Judgment pursuant to <u>Fla</u>. <u>Stat</u>. §768.54 because it did not have jurisdiction to grant the relief requested. Additionally, based on the Fourth District's ruling, which has not been challenged by Petitioners, that Morales was not entitled to a set-off for the \$100,000 pretrial settlement, Morales is not entitled to claim a limitation of liability for that payment pursuant to <u>Fla</u>. <u>Stat</u>.

17

٠..

S768.54 since that amount was not paid with respect to a judgment or settlement as to him. Therefore, the Fourth District should be affirmed as to this issue.

In his brief before this Court, Morales contends that the trial court had jurisdiction to rule on his Motion for Limitation of Liability pursuant to Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.540(b)(5). No authority is cited for that proposition. To the contrary, it appears clear that the trial court did not have jurisdiction to rule on that motion. The trial court had previously entered a Final Judgment granting the Motion for Attorney's Fees and Costs and an Order on Defendants' Motion to Limit Final Judgment, which motion had been made within the time constraints of Fla, R, Civ, P, 1,530(b). Morales filed a Notice of Appeal from those orders on August 19, 1986 (R260-61). Not until after his Notice of Appeal had been filed did Morales file his Motion for Limitation of Liability (R269-70). That motion did not specify its procedural basis. Morales now claims that it was filed pursuant to Fla, R, Civ, P, 1.540(b)(5).

It is settled law in Florida that a trial court does not have jurisdiction to rule on a motion for relief from judgment after a Notice of Appeal from the final judgment has been filed, EDWARD J. DEBARTOLO CORP. V. DRWIT SYSTEMS, INC., 368 So.2d 85 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979); LEO GOODWIN FOUNDATION, INC. V. RIGGS NATIONAL BANK OF WASHINGTON, D.C., 374 So.2d 1018 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979); GLATSTEIN V. CITY OF MIAMI, 391 So.2d 297 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980); FERRARA V. BELCHER INDUSTRIES, INC., 483 So.2d 477 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986); GEORGES V. INSURANCE TECHNICIANS, INC., 486 So.2d

700 (Fla, 4th DCA 1986). Since Morales never requested a relinquishment of jurisdiction from the Fourth District, it is clear that the trial court did not have authority to rule on any motions filed pursuant to Fla, R, Civ, P, 1,540(b) after Morales had filed his Notice of Appeal. His contention, first raised in this Motion for Rehearing before the Fourth District, that his motion was filed pursuant to Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.540 is inconsistent with the pleadings he filed in the Fourth District. There, he filed a Notice of Appeal after the Final Judgment on Attorney's Fees and his Motion to Limit Final the Order on Judqment and. subsequently, amended it to include the Order denying his Motion for Limitation of Liability. Rulings on motions filed pursuant to Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.540 are reviewable under the non-final rule, see Fla.R.App.P. 9.130(a)(5). Therefore, his attempt to amend his Notice of Appeal to include that ruling must have been predicated on the theory that the motion had tolled the time for the filing of the Notice of Appeal from the Final Judgment, which a motion filed pursuant to Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.540 does not do, see Fla, R, App. P. 9.020(g).

The Fourth District was correct in ruling that Morales' Motion for Limitation of Liability was untimely since it was filed after the Notice of Appeal. The Fourth District's reference to Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.530(b) must be considered in light of the fact that it was not until Morales filed his Motion for Rehearing that he ever argued that his Motion for Limitation of Liability was filed pursuant to Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.540. All of Morales' previous conduct in the case indicated that he

considered his motion to have been made pursuant to Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.530, even though his motion never designated the procedural basis.

٠.

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